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RFP No. 1-13-C035 
Passenger User Research Survey 

for the 
Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

 
Questions and Answers 
 
Notice: Questions may have been edited for clarity and relevance. 
 
1. Would MWAA consider extending the due date of the proposals considering that the 

pre-proposal conference is providing valuable information that may modify how firms 
are bidding? 
 
Answer:  There are no plans to extend the due date for the proposals at this time.  All 
firms are encouraged to enroll as a planholder in order to receive all Amendments and 
updates related to this solicitation. 

 
2. The RFP mentions that the focus group and the other surveys to be conducted may 

be done.  May a firm only bid on the recurring passenger survey and choose not to 
bid on the other may work?   
 
Answer:  No. 

 
3. If bidders are to bid on the focus group and the other surveys, does the minimum 51% 

of the bid being DBE firms apply to these other items?  Given that a non-DBE firm has 
been doing this work.      
 
Answer:  RFP 1-13-C035 has a 100% LDBE participation requirement. All firms (both 
the prime and all subs) participating in the contract must be LDBE certified before the 
contract can be awarded. Firms that are not currently LDBE certified may submit an 
offer on this RFP but a contract award cannot be made until all firms participating in 
the contract to be awarded are LDBE certified. Therefore firms that are not currently 
LDBE certified should immediately submit an LDBE application to the Equal 
Opportunity Programs Department, Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority, 1 
Aviation Circle, Washington DC 20001. The LDBE application may be obtained at 
http://www.mwaa.com/file/LDBE_Application.pdf 
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4. This is a 100% LDBE requirement yet there are forms for firms to request a waiver and 
other language about including LDBE firms as subcontractors when the prime is not a 
DBE firm.  Could you please clarify this?      
 
Answer:  The standard provisions in the RFP address solicitations that require 100% 
LDBE participation as well as those that have less than 100% LDBE participation 
requirements. This RFP requires 100% LDBE participation. 

 
5. Is the 2011 Passenger Research Report the precursor to the report this project is to 

produce?      
 
Answer:  The 2012 Passenger Research results is the precursor to this project and are 
currently being processed. 
 

6. Nowhere in the RFP does it mention what the deliverable reports from this survey will 
be.  Can you provide these requirements?  
 
Answer: Deliverables for the ongoing Passenger User Survey include a mid-year 
report and an annual report that is tabulated and includes charts and graphs.  The 
Airports Authority may request data throughout the Contract term including cross 
tabulations. 

 
7. Will previous study data be included in any deliverable reports?  If so, can you 

provide file descriptions of this data, how it’s stored, and how many records are in 
them? 
 
Answer:  The data in the mid-year and annual reports includes a five (5) year 
comparison.  The files for each year are SPSS files containing up to 6,000 
respondents/records.  For each respondent, there are approximately 400 variables.  
Some of the data variables are answers to the questions while others are derived 
variables from calculations.  Separate files are kept for each year, but they are 
designed so that data can be tracked/trended from year to year going back as far as 
10 years. 
 
The data is stored on a highly secure server in SPSS, but provided to the Airports 
Authority and its consultants in a variety of different formats depending on the need. 
 
There are approximately 6,000 records/respondents per year. 

 
8. Is the incumbent the Metropolitan Council of Governments?  If not, who is? 

 
Answer:  No, the incumbent is Widener-Burrows & Associates, Inc. 
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9. If the incumbent is not a DBE firm does it have any DBE subcontractors?  If so, who 
are they? 
 
Answer:  The incumbent contractor is certified LDBE and there is no subcontractor 
participation on this contract.   
 

10. From past surveys, what percentage of the written surveys is mailed back as opposed 
to being completed at the airports?  
 
Answer:  We don’t track the percentage of written surveys mailed against those 
completed at the airports.  There is a 93% response rate for the written surveys. 
 

11. On page 3 of Attachment 01, under A, it reads conducted by trained senior-level 
professional field interviewers.  How do you define what a senior level professional 
field interviewer is? 
 
Answer:  The Scope of Work requires that experienced interviewers are conducting 
the Passenger User Surveys at both Reagan National and Washington Dulles 
International Airports.  Experienced interviewers are necessary to approach travelers 
to participate in the survey and to prompt responses for the intercept survey.  Senior-
level professional interviewers are defined as having past experience as an 
interviewer or those that will receive training once the contract has been awarded. 
 

12. There are 11,300,000 passengers at Dulles each year. Yet in 2011, there were only 
5406 survey responses from both Dulles and Reagan National.  How can this have a 
93% response rate? 
 
Answer:  The number of passengers traveling through Dulles exceeds 11.3 million.  
The response rate is based on the number of surveys distributed and the number of 
responses received. 
 

13. Please provide the algorithm for weighting.   
 
Answer:  The algorithm for scoring proposals is considered confidential and not 
available for public release.    
 

14. On page 6 of Attachment 01, under, d., it mentions that, The Contractor shall provide 
cross tabulations of data and written summary reports upon request at no cost to the 
Airports Authority.  Are contractors to include these costs as obligations in our cost 
proposals or is the intent of this sentence something different?   
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Answer:  Throughout the term of the Contract, the Authority’s offices may request 
that cross tabulations be run.  See Addendum to Statement of Work included with 
Amendment 002 to the solicitation for clarification.  
 

15. Does the 25 page Technical Proposal limit include resumes? 
 
Answer:  No. 
 

16. Regarding past performance, there are three different requirements for proposals: 1) 
projects in the past 5 years (Criterion 4); 2) research studies done in the last 3 years 
by client (Qualifications/Experience of Firm and Personnel); 3) Three references with 
no past time frame mentioned (Section 3, Past Performance.) What is the past time 
frame requirement? 
 
Answer:   There is no specific time frame requirement for the three references.  Note 
that Criterion 4, Past Performance states that “The criterion will evaluate the extent to 
which references are from firms for which the suggested personnel for this project 
have provided the work.       
 

17. Our firm is a certified as a DBE firm by MWAA, however, we don’t appear on the web 
site as a DBE firm.  Could you please explain why? 
 
Answer:  The Airports Authority has two separate and distinct small business 
certification programs. The Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (LDBE) 
Program is for contracts that are non-federally funded and the Disadvantaged 
Business Enterprise (DBE) Program is for federally funded contracts.  This RFP falls 
under the LDBE Program requirements. The DBE Directory for all firms certified as 
DBEs under the Virginia Unified Certification Program (VAUCP) is hosted by the 
Virginia Department of Minority Business Enterprise (the Airports Authority is a 
certifying member of the VAUCP). To access the DBE Directory go to: 
www.dmbe.virginia.gov.   
 

18. Is the proposal limited to 3 references or can more than 3 references be submitted? 
 
Answer:  You may include more than 3 references with your proposal.   
 

19. Attachment 02, page 3, please further explain what you mean by, Address the 
evaluation criteria in the order they are presented. 
 
Answer:  When preparing your proposal, we request that you address the evaluation 
criteria in the order they are presented to identify offeror’s response to each criterion 
and facilitate scoring.     
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20. Reference Attachment 02, page 3, Section 1.   Is how would your work with the 
Authority be organized and staffed, already covered under, Qualifications/Experience 
of Personnel? 
 
Answer:   The Authority is looking for a summary of how you propose to staff this 
particular project. 
 

21. Attachment 02, page 3, is the experience stated in the resumes limited to the past 3 
years? 
 
Answer:   Yes. 
 

22. If a non-DBE firm has been doing the survey, what is the rationale for having a DBE 
firm do the survey? 
 
Answer:   An LDBE firm has been conducting the survey.  See response to question 4. 
 

23. The estimated value of this contract states 150k to 250k, is that value for base 
services and supplemental services for base year and four option years? 
 
Answer:   It is an annual estimate to prepare the survey instruments, administer the 
surveys, collecting and weighting the data, and providing the Authority with an annual 
and mid-year report of the survey findings. 
 

24. What kind of editing criteria is required for cleaning up the raw data from the surveys 
comparison to earlier years? Imputation? Edits when comparing data from the same 
survey respondent? 
 
Answer:   Significant data cleaning required.  In addition, the Authority makes annual 
changes to the survey instrument – additions and deletions – that also must be 
incorporated.  There are also numerous calculations incorporated into the data and 
the analysis of that data. 
 

25. Did all of the respondents of the intercept survey also do the supplemental intercept 
survey?  Or did those who did the intercept survey not do the supplemental intercept 
survey and vice versa? 
 
Answer:   Completion of the Supplemental portion of the Passenger User Survey is 
not mandatory.  The Supplemental portion is conducted only if the respondents have 
the time and are willing to continue with the survey. 
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26. How many intercept surveys were collected in the past survey year and how many 
supplemental intercept surveys were collected in the past survey year? 
 
Answer:   In 2011, the total completed intercepts for both Reagan National and 
Washington Dulles International Airports is 2,798.  The total number of completed 
Supplemental intercepts for both Airports in 2011 was 3,077. 
 

27. On the price schedule, what do the lines a through e represent?  How can someone 
estimate hours for group sessions and additional survey functions that have not been 
defined? 
 
Answer:   You should use the 40 hours and your hourly rate for evaluation purposes. 
 

28. In Attachment 02, Section 1 under, Qualifications/Experience of Personnel, you state, 
list client projects on which they have worked. What if the person is currently not 
employed by the bidding firm? 
 
Answer:   List your own client projects. 
 

29. In Attachment 02, Section 2 under, Demonstrated Understanding of Tasks and Firms 
Capabilities, a step by step plan that ensures a smooth transition from information 
gathered up to calendar year 2012, could you please be more specific about what you 
mean? Do you mean a data crosswalk between data elements in the new surveys 
matched against data elements in the previous year surveys? 
 
Answer:   The Authority wants to ensure that the surveys will continue to be collected, 
analyzed, and weighted as in years past. 
 

30. What is involved in the interviews? Does each person who is interviewed 
subsequently receive a paper survey?     
 
Answer:   The surveys are a 3-step process:  written, intercept, and supplemental.  
The only “paper” survey is the written booklet. 
 

31. How many interviews/surveys must be completed each week?  Are there specific 
months in which surveys are conducted?  It seems that responses could be different 
during peak holiday travel seasons, for example.      
 
Answer:   The Passenger Research Surveys are a random sampling of passenger 
travel through Reagan National and Washington Dulles International Airports.  The 
Contractor will review sample flight plans and put together a schedule that represents 
each day of the month.  The goal is to complete as many surveys as possible. The 
surveys are conducted in the Airports every other month. 
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32. How is response rate calculated?  Is it the number of completed surveys divided by 

the number asked to complete or is it the number of surveys for which each question 
is completed?  Or, is it some other calculation?  
 
Answer:   It is the number of completed surveys compared to the number of surveys 
distributed. 
 

33. Will team members who will be conducting surveys at airport locations need to 
complete some sort of background or clearance check?  If so, how long will this 
process require?    
 
Answer:   Yes.  Background security checks are required of all interviewers since they 
must have access post-security to conduct the surveys in the hold rooms.  The 
process can take a few weeks. 
 

34. What is MWAA's estimate for the cost of each year of this project?  What were the 
annual expenditures under the predecessor contract(s) on this project over the last 
three to five years? 
 
Answer:    The annual estimates to conduct, analyze, weight and submit a mid-year 
report and an annual report are in the $200,000 range.  
 

35. Do you anticipate that there will be any changes to the security badging process for 
field interviewers and supervisors? 
 
Answer:   No.  


